**RECEIVED**

**Mar 03 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
TEASA K. WEAVER, MASTER-IN-EQUITY

---

Appellate Case No.: 2021-000816

---

Vicki Lynn Vergeldt, individually and as  
Successor Trustee of the John Vergeldt, Jr.  
Revocable living Trust dated September 27, 1978, ..... Respondent,

v.

John Edward Vergeldt, ..... Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Desa Ballard (S.C. Bar No. 498)  
Harvey M. Watson III (S.C. Bar No. 74053)  
BALLARD & WATSON  
226 State Street  
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169  
Telephone 803.796.9299  
Facsimile 803.796.1066  
desab@desaballard.com

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial judge err in granting the motion to amend to allow Respondent Vicki to seek damages barred by res judicata, as damages had been excluded by an order in prior litigation between the parties?
  
2. Did the trial judge err by failing to apply the proper standard of proof, the one established by settlor's tenth amendment to the trust, which permitted a finding of liability by one beneficiary against another only if "an act or omission [is] committed in bad faith or with reckless indifference to the purpose of the trust or the interests of the beneficiaries"?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The orders on appeal arise from the second of two suits between two surviving adult children of the decedent, John Vergeldt Jr. The first litigation was resolved after a trial in 2015. (R. pp. 3-11). Respondent Vicki Lynn Vergeldt (hereinafter “Vicki”) filed a motion for reconsideration, but did not appeal the order in that case.

Less than a year later, Respondent Vicki filed a new lawsuit (Case No. 2016-CP-46-00820)<sup>1</sup> seeking to remove her brother, Appellant John Vergelt (hereinafter “John”) as successor trustee and for “additional or alternative injunctive relief” relating to John’s alleged failure to provide access to trust records. (R. pp. 405-494). Vicki did not seek damages against John, as all relief sought was equitable in nature. *Id.*

More than three years later, Vicki sought to amend her Petition to seek damages against Appellant John for the first time. (R. pp. 619-630). Appellant John opposed the motion via counsel, but it was granted. (R. pp. 23-25).

At subsequent trial, Appellant John objected to attempts to recover damages based upon the 2014 order concluding the 2014 case, and objected to expert testimony offered on the issue of alleged damages. Nevertheless, the trial court entered judgment against Appellant John in the total amount of \$361,092.88, “said amount being comprised of \$299,719.26 to restore the trust assets; additional expenses of \$5,870.00 and attorney’s fees of \$55,512.62.” (R p. 42). Appellant John filed a motion to reconsider, and amended motion to reconsider after receipt of the trial transcript. The motions to reconsider were denied in their entirety. (R. pp. 46-65). This appeal followed.

---

<sup>1</sup> Like the first action, this action was filed initially in probate court and removed to Circuit Court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The orders on appeal arise from lengthy litigation between two surviving adult children of the decedent, John Vergeldt Jr. The decedent executed a Revocable Living Trust in 1978 that became irrevocable at the time of his death. The trust was amended and restated in July 2009. (R. pp. 79-134).

The first litigation was filed in probate court as Case No. 2014-GC-46-012. The probate judge referred the case to the Circuit Court and it was assigned Case No. 2014-CP-46-01956. The action sought a declaratory judgment “related solely to the construction and interpretation of the Trust Agreement... (R. p. 67). At the time the action was filed, the plaintiff Vicki Lynn Vergeldt, sued her brother John Vergeldt and her sister Patricia Vergeldt Downey. *Id.* She sought a declaratory judgment as to the construction of the trust, as well as a determination that she had probable cause to bring the lawsuit such that she was not excluded from the trust by the “no contest” provision of the trust. *Id.* She also sought litigation costs with no statutory or common law basis pleaded. The “trust” was the restated trust from July 2009, as well as a Ninth Amendment dated February 5, 2010, and a Tenth amendment dated March 7, 2011. (R. pp. 79-144).

The complaint was amended twice prior to trial. The First Amended Complaint sought the same relief (declaratory judgment, probable cause to file the lawsuit and litigation costs). (R. pp. 167-275). The Second Amended Complaint included a request in the declaratory judgment for a determination of the date on which the settlor lacked capacity (as well as the original declaratory relief regarding construction of the trust), a finding of probable cause to bring the case, and litigation costs pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 62-7-1004.

The case was tried in 2015. The trial judge specifically stated that he was awarding equitable relief only. “I make no finding relating to the liability of any party or the lack thereof,

as no claim is stated for breach of any duty, and no relief is sought from the Court to compel the trustee to perform any duties that may be required. . .”<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 4).

The trial judge found the settlor of the trust “likely became unable to manage or conduct his own affairs sometime between the late Fall of 2012, and March 2013, when his son John initiated a guardianship proceeding in York County Probate Court. *Id.* According to the order, the guardianship proceeding was not completed prior to the settlor’s death due to opposition from Respondent Vicki Lynn Vergeldt. *Id.* The Court found “it was not until May 6, 2013 that [settlor’s] primary physician rendered a medical opinion of legal incapacity, which ‘triggered’ certain provisions of the Trust.” *Id.* p. 3. In the last years of his life, settlor lived at various times with each of his children, residing with John until his death in 2013.

Importantly, the final order included the following observation:

It is apparent that the parties have a poor and strained relationship. Their communications foster acrimony and suspicion. In the course of dealing with Mr. Vergeldt’s affairs, Vicki has questioned John’s handling of Mr. Vergeldt’s affairs, and demanded accountings. John has responded by minimal communications and unnecessary assertions of authority that have contributed to Vicki’s questions concerning John’s handling of Mr. Vergeldt’s affairs as Successor Trustee. This unfortunate set of circumstances has led to the present action, but I find that in the posture presented by Vicki’s prayer for relief, she has not directly challenged John’s actions as Successor Trustee. Her prayer seeks only an interpretation of the applicable Michigan and South Carolina law and the often-amended trust Agreement.

(R. p. 5) (emphasis added).

The trial judge’s order repeatedly stressed that he was only providing a construction of the trust, as the pleadings requested that relief. By way of example,

---

<sup>2</sup> The trust document required construction of the trust under Michigan law, and all parties acknowledged the applicability of Michigan law to the issues before the Court).

- Because Plaintiff seeks only a declaration of the meaning of [Paragraph Fifth], I make no finding or conclusion concerning whether John, as Successor Trustee, has correctly applied the language of Paragraph Fifth.
- As this action does not directly challenge the actions of the Successor Trustee, I make no declaration concerning probable cause to make such a challenge.
- . . . not answered in this order, namely, the propriety of John’s management of trust assets and affairs prior to becoming Successor Trustee. . .

*Id.* at pp. 8-10.

The trial judge found John Vergeldt “became successor trustee on March 6, 2013”<sup>3</sup> and prior to becoming successor trustee [on March 6, 2012], John’s duty was entirely to Mr. Vergeldt until Mr. Vergeldt’s death.” *Id.* at p. 10. He found that the successor trustee, John, had a duty to provide “all available information relevant to the Trust property without time limitation” and “a duty to provide statements of account at least annually to current trust beneficiaries and to permit inspection of the financial records of the Trust from the date of Mr. Vergeldt’s death. No particular format the presenting statements is prescribed.”

The trial judge made “[n]o declaration concerning probable cause to challenge of the Successor’s Trustee’s performance of his duties is made, as such issue is not presented in this action.” Additionally, [n]o finding or conclusion in this order shall be deemed to be a determination of compliance, non-compliance with applicable law or the terms of the Trust Agreement. Further, no finding or conclusion in this order shall be deemed to establish the amount of any entitlement of any beneficiary under the terms of the Trust agreement.” *Id.* p. 11. (Emphasis added). No award of attorney’s fees was made. *Id.* (emphasis added).

---

<sup>3</sup> This finding was linked to a report from Mr. Vergeldt’s primary care physician introduced during the guardianship proceeding, which report was dated May 6, 2013). *Id.* p. 10.

Clearly, issues regarding whether any party had sustained damages as a result of any acts or omissions of John's handling of the trust prior to Mr. Vergeldt's death could have been decided in the first case. The trial judge's order went out of its way to say that, because no one asserted a claim for liability or damages, he decided only the issues presented, *i.e.*, construction of the trust.

Respondent Vicki Lynn Vergeldt filed a motion for reconsideration, but did not appeal the order.

Less than a year later, Respondent Vicki filed a new lawsuit, this time seeking equitable relief only. In Case No. 2016-CP-46-00820<sup>4</sup> Vicki sought to remove John as successor trustee and for "additional or alternative injunctive relief" relating to John's failure to provide access to trust records. Despite the language of the order in the first case, Vicki did not seek damages against John. All relief sought was equitable. (R. pp. 405-494).

More than three years later, Vicki sought to amend her Petition and, for the first time, to seek damages against Appellant John. (R. pp. 521-523). The basis for the amended relief was required "based on the evidence uncovered during the course of this litigation. . ." *Id.* p. 522. While John's counsel appeared and opposed the motion, it was granted. (R. pp. 23-25).

On June 10, 2019, Vicki filed her first pleading seeking damages against John. (R. pp. 524-618). Most of the damages sought by Vicki were damages that should have been litigated in the original action, as they related to distributions made from the trust prior to the initiation of the first lawsuit. *Id.* p. 527, ¶¶ 15-19. The Amended Petition made reference to the trial judge's order from the 2014 litigation, and included allegations that John had not responded appropriately to requests for information after the 2015 order was issued. The amended petition even alleged that

---

<sup>4</sup> Like the original action, this action was filed in probate court as Case No. 2016-GC-46-00018 and removed to Circuit Court.

Vicki had not been able to seek damages in the prior action because she had not been provided with records prior to bringing that action. *Id.* ¶¶ 28-29.

For the first time, Vicki sought damages against John, both for actions he performed prior to his father's death, as well as after, including multiple transactions that had occurred prior to the first lawsuit and which should have and could have been litigated in the first litigation. John, who was *pro se*, filed a Response to the Amended Petition, denying Vicki was entitled to recover any damages from him, and seeking various legal and equitable relief against Vicki. (R. pp. 619-630). While John did not use the term *res judicata*, he did expressly assert that issues raised in the Amended Petition had already been addressed in the prior litigation. *Id.* ¶¶ 13 – 24.

The parties agreed for a non-fiduciary limited special trustee to review the trust records back to December 31, 2016; the date of December 31, 2016 is not explained in the record. (R. pp. 13-16). The order allowed the special trustee to “begin her accounting at a date as early as January 1, 2008.” *Id.* No specific discussion was made regarding the special trustee to recognize the findings of the trial judge in the first action, *i.e.*, that John owed no duties to Vicki prior to becoming successor trustee on May 6, 2013. (R. pp. 3-11). John, however, specifically prayed that the order in the 2014 action was binding and no findings inconsistent with that order could be made. (R. pp. 621-622 ¶¶ 15, 17, 22). John specifically pointed out that the special trustee was not permitted to examine transactions prior to him becoming successor trustee (in 2013) but the special trustee had done so. *Id.* at ¶ 30).

The trial court in the instant case recognized the order from the prior action. (R. p. 31). However, the trial court ignored the findings of the order and awarded Respondent Vicki damages based on Nonetheless, when the instant case was tried, Respondent Vicki was permitted to seek and recover damages for John's supposed handling of the trust prior to him becoming successor

trustee. The special trustee's report which covered "the trust's account, finances and assets covering the period January 1, 2009 and December 31, 2016" (R. p. 34 ¶ 9). Vicki also called a witness who presented what he termed an "accounting" using the "prudent man standard" for the period December 31, 2008 and ending April 30, 2019.

The trial judge awarded Vicki damages for the period time that John was not responsible for the handling of the trust, *i.e.*, during the time he was serving as co-trustee, when the prior order had expressly stated that as co-trustee John's only duty was solely to his father. (R. pp. 3-11).

Both experts analyzed and offered opinions regarding what testified was John's duty during a time the trial judge in the prior action had already determined John owed no duties to Vicki or the trust, and when John's sole duty was to his surviving father. Both based their estimates of John's alleged misdeeds as successor trustee and damages supposedly incurred by the trust to include several years of time the trust was managed solely by the now-deceased Settlor, when John had no obligation to the beneficiaries of the trust. The trial judge awarded damages as if the order in the prior case had never existed, and awarded damages to Vicki based on what was considered to malfeasance by John back to 2008, when the now-deceased settlor was solely responsible for decisions made regarding trust assets, until John became successor trustee in 2013.

John, who unfortunately remained unrepresented, fully preserved his argument that the prior order determined the parties' father was in charge of all financial transactions of the trust until John became the successor trustee at the time of the settlor's death in 2013. (R. p. 719, lines 14-20). "So anything prior to that, it's already been ruled, my father was in charge of. So a lot of things [Vicki's counsel] brought up are things from 2008 or 2009."

While John did not use the legal terms "law of the case" or "issue preclusion" or "claim preclusion" he made it very clear that he objected to Vicki's attempts to recover damages from

him when the prior order expressly vindicated him for any handling of the trust assets prior to his father's death in 2013. *Id.*

The special trustee, Kathleen Palinski, was qualified as an expert with John's consent. (R. p. 724, lines 7-16). Ms. Palinski acknowledged she had reviewed financial records related to the handling of the trust back to 2008. (R. p. 733, lines 15-25). Again, John objected and pointed out the prior order limited his exposure to a period beginning in 2013, and not back to 2008 when his father had sole control of the trust). (R. p. 736, lines 9-14). The trial judge didn't recognize John's objection and directed him to ask questions during cross examination. (R. p. 736, lines 15-20).

Much of Ms. Palinski's testimony and report focused on the period prior to John becoming the successor trustee then the settlor died. (R. p. 738, line 3 – p. 746, line 23). She pointed out John's efforts to distribute the corpus of the trust following the settlor's death. (R. p. 747, lines 20-25). Ms. Palinski's opinion was limited to her believe that John's "work as trustee [did not rise] to the standards" she had set forth. (R. p. 750, lines 5-12). Her criticism of John's work was that he would have "benefited from hiring a bookkeeper or an accountant" to assist with his duties." (R. p. 750, lines 13 – p. 751, line 12).

Ms. Palinski's testimony was that John breached his duties under the trust agreement because he lacked impartiality, and the probate court would not have found it acceptable." (R. p. 751, line 17 – p. 752, line 7). Her testimony related exclusively to the accounting records prior to John becoming successor trustee. Additionally, Ms. Palinski did not testify that John's acts or omissions had caused any damages to the trust.

She elaborated on the chart she had prepared which reflected disbursements and accountings done by the now-deceased settlor, from 2008-2012. (R. p. 754, line 2 – 16). She pointed out that John had also written checks on trust account during the time period of 2009

through 2011, making no reference to the unappealed finding from the 2014 order that John owned no duty to anyone other than his father during that period of time.

During cross examination, Ms. Palinski expressly rejected the unappealed finding from the earlier case that John's duties did not begin until his father's death, asserting her view that John had been assisting his father with handling trust funds "as early as October of '08." (R. p. 760, lines 1-8). In fact, Ms. Palinski disputed the ruling from the prior case, stating her opinion that the now-deceased settlor could not choose who handled the trust assets prior to his death because John was co-trustee. (R. p. 760, line 19 – p. 763, line 8).

Essentially, Ms. Palinski's opinion ignored the final order in the original case; or perhaps she was not aware of the order. Her testimony, which lacked any findings as to proximate cause or damages, focused primarily on time that John was not responsible for handling the trust money. Ms. Palinski even admitted she was assuming that, during the time the now-deceased settlor was handling the trust finances. "I don't know who the co-trustee would have been . . . I'm interpreting this to infer that you or someone else was serving as his co-trustee." (R. p. 768, lines 2 – p. 772, line 21).

No other conclusion is possible other than Ms. Palinski based her entire review and opinion without realizing that the original unappealed order had absolved John of any responsibility for handling the trust prior to his father's death. On re-direct, Ms. Palinski confirmed she had read the trust documents, but she was not asked if she was aware of the unappealed order from the first lawsuit that exonerated John of any handling of trust assets or funds until his father's death. (R. p. 773, line 16 - p. 776. line 7). On re-direct, Ms. Palinski was allowed to speculate as to what duties a co-trustee would have had generally, without any reference to the unappealed order. (R. p. 776, line 8 – p. 777, line 24).

The only other expert provided by Vicki was a CPA who also seemed oblivious to the unappealed order from the 2014 action which limited John’s responsibility for handling the trust to the time period following the now-deceased settlor’s death. Charles E. Bosler, a certified public accountant was certified as an expert in “accountancy and bookkeeping.” (R. p. 964, lines 18-22). Again, John did not object to Mr. Bosler’s qualification as an expert in accountancy and bookkeeping. *Id.* lines 22-23.

Mr. Bosler did not testify to the standard of care of a Successor Trustee or whether he had any opinions regarding the conduct of Respondent. His area of expertise was numbers. As to numbers, most of Mr. Bosler’s report and testimony was based on what he and his office guessed a prudent man might have done under the circumstances and the vast majority of it related to trust transactions prior to John becoming responsible for handling the trust finances. (R. p. 981, lines 13-24; R. p. 982, line 23-p. 983, line 11; R. p. 984, line 22- p. 985, line 10; R. p. 985, lines 17-21; R. p. 985, lines 6-14; R. p. 988, line 15-p.989, line 3; R. p. 994, line 1-p. 995, line 13).

Mr. Bosler testified he had sufficient information “to make a good guess of what the trust had at each year end from 2008 and pretty good records from all the transactions that happened. Not a month-to-month for every account, but enough to make a lot of sense. . .” (R. p. 967, lines 5 – 16).

Mr. Bosler repeatedly qualified his report and explained his inability to give precise numbers:

- Some of these might have had different names, but they all ended up being trust – treated as trust assets along the way, even if they were in an account with John Jr.’s name. (R. p. 969 lines 10-15).

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