IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
JAN 20 2022
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
TEASA KAY WEAVER, MASTER IN EQUITY

Appellate Case No. 2021-000816
Lower Case No. 2016-CP-46-000820

Vicki Lynn Vergeldt, individually, and as
Successor Trustee of the John Vergeldt, Jr.
Revocable Living Trust dated
September 27, 1978.....Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

John Edward Vergeldt.....Defendant/Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT VICKI LYNN VERGELDT, INDIVIDUALLY, AND
AS SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE OF THE JOHN VERGELDT, JR. REVOCABLE LIVING
TRUST DATED SEPTEMBER 27, 1978**

Taylor A. Peace, SC Bar # 100206
Harrell, Martin & Peace, P.A.

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

“*Res Judicata* bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of prior action between those parties. Under the doctrine of *res judicata*, ‘[a] litigant is barred from raising issues which were adjudicated in the form suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit.’” Judy v. Judy, 393 S.C. 160, 172, 712 S.E. 2d 408, 414 (2011). (citing Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway, 334 S.C. 30, 34, 512 S.E. 2d 106, 109 (1999)). “The doctrine of *res judicata* is founded on the principle that the public interest requires an end to litigation and that no one should be sued twice for the same cause of action.” Town of Sullivan’s Island v. Felger, 318 S.C. 340, 344, 457 S.E. 2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 1995). “*Res Judicata* bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties.” Plott v. Justin Enterprises, 374 S.C. 504, 511, 649 S.E. 2d 92, 95 (Ct. App. 2007). “Under *res judicata*, ‘[a] litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit’” Id (internal citations omitted).

In order for *res judicata* to operate as a bar to a lawsuit the following elements need to be proven: (1) identity of the parties; (2) identity of the subject matter; and (3) adjudication of

the issue in the former suit. Plum Creek Development Co., Inc. v. City of Conway, 334 S.C. 30, 34 512 S.E. 2d 106, 109 (1999). “Because the determination of whether *res judicata* precludes a subsequent suit cannot be reduced to a formulaic process, the Supreme Court cannot adopt or attempt to define a single standard.” Judy v. Judy, 393 S.C. 160, 172, 712 S.E. 2d 408, 414 (2011) (internal citations omitted). However, simply seeking a different remedy in the second lawsuit for the same cause of action does not negate the identical nature of the subjects of the two actions where the cause of action is not simply the form of the action in which a claim is asserted, but rather the cause of action is the underlying facts combined with the law giving the party a right to a remedy of one form or another based thereon. Id. However, *res judicata* does not bar a second action for damages and other relief where it follows a first action that seeks a declaratory judgment. See Robison v. Asbill, 328 S.C. 450, 492 S.E. 2d 400 (Ct. App. 1997).

Under a Rule 8(c), SCRPC, “[i]n pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively the defenses.....*res judicata*” or they are waived. Id.; RIM Associates v. Blackwell, 359 S.C. 170, 597 S.E. 2d 152 (Ct. App. 2004).

A. Appellant did not raise the affirmative defense of *res judicata* and it is waived as a result.

As applied to this matter, a review of the Answer and Counterclaim reveals that Appellant failed to set forth an affirmative defense of *res judicata* in the Answer and Counterclaim. (Answer and Counterclaim). He also failed to assert the same defense in his Response to the Amended Petition for Removal of Trustee and Related Relief. (Response to Answer and Counterclaim). While Appellant appears to claim that he brought up the 08.31.2015 Order, his references thereto are a mischaracterization and cannot be construed as raising *res judicata* as a defense to the present action. The first time it appears that Appellant raised the issue of *res judicata* was in his Motion for Reconsideration and Amended Motion for

Reconsideration. As a result, it was improper for the trial court to consider it on the Motion for Reconsideration and it is improper for this court to consider it on appeal. See Patterson v. Reid, 318 S.C. 183, 456 S.E. 2d 436 (Ct. App. 1995); Miller Construction Co., LLC v. P.C. Construction of Greenwood, 418 S.C. 186, 791 S.E. 2d 321 (Ct. App. 2016); Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 77, 497 S.E. 2d 731, 734 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, it must have raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for review.....Moreover, an objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector).

B. Even if res judicata had been raised, it is was not a bar to amendment of the pleadings and Appellant was not prejudiced by the pleadings amendment.

Even if Appellant had properly pled and raised the issue of *res judicata* to the trial court in response to and/or at the hearing on the Motion to Amend, it was not an abuse of discretion for the court to allow amendment as it was not an error of law to do so and Appellant has not shown any evidence that he was otherwise prejudiced.

i. Res Judicata did not bar amendment of the pleadings.

In this particular matter, the trial court properly allowed amendment of the Petition as the issue of damages was not raised and/or ruled upon in the First Litigation, the parties are not identical, and there was no identity of subject matter. Additionally, the claims for damages resulting from the amendment of the Petition could not have been brought in the First Litigation as it was specifically brought due to the Appellant’s failure and refusal to acknowledge his duties as the Trust’s Successor Trustee. Furthermore, Judge Kimball specifically preserved Respondent’s right to bring a second action for damages or otherwise in the final order in the First Litigation as described *infra*.

As to the first element of *res judicata*, identity of the parties does not exist. In the First Case, Respondent brought the first action against Appellant while he was serving as Successor Trustee of the Trust and Respondent was merely a beneficiary thereof. (08.31.2015 Order). In this matter, Respondent brought the present action while Appellant was serving as Successor Trustee, but, at or around the same time Respondent sought to and was granted leave to amend the Petition, Appellant resigned as Successor Trustee and Respondent became the Successor Trustee. (Petition, Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Amend Petition.) It is in both capacities as beneficiary and successor trustee that Respondent brought the causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty, breach of the duty of loyalty, and negligence. In other words, the parties reversed positions and capacities in this case such that the parties are not identical.

The second element of *res judicata* is also not present as there is not identity of the subject matter between the First Case and the present action as the issue of damages was not litigated in the First Case. (08.31.2015 Order and Amended Petition). Respondent brought the First Case seeking only declaratory relief based on causes of action relating to: (1) Settlor's mental capacity and lack thereof, (2) the effect the Settlor's competency on who was the trustee of the Trust, (3) when Appellant became co-trustee and/or successor trustee, (4) his duties and obligations to Respondent and when they arose, and (5) whether Respondent had probable cause to bring the First Case. (08.31.2015 Order). Aside from these narrow questions, none were raised or resolved. To be sure, Judge Kimball specifically found that no declaration concerning probable cause to challenge Appellant's performance of his duties as co-trustee or successor trustee as none had been alleged or was before the Court. He also specifically ruled that nothing in the 08.31.2015 Order should be deemed to be a determination of Appellant's compliance or non-compliance with applicable law or the Trust. (¶5, p. 9, 08.31.2015 Order). To be sure,

Judge Kimball ruled that, “[s]uch determination is preserved for such time as Plaintiff {Respondent} challenges the John {Appellant} while acting as Successor Trustee” and that “no finding or conclusion in this order shall be deemed to establish the amount of any entitlement of any beneficiary under the Terms of the Trust agreement.” (¶¶5 and 6, p. 9, 08.31.2015 Order). Distilled to their essence, Judge Kimball was aware that Respondent was only seeking declaratory relief in the First Case related to Appellant’s duties to Respondent under the Trust agreement and ruled accordingly.

By contrast, Respondent initially brought the present action to have Appellant removed as Successor Trustee based upon his failure to produce trustee records and/or accountings in derogation of the duties imposed by the Trust. (Petition). Respondent also sought to have Appellant immediately release trust records, for injunctive relief, and for litigation costs. (Petition”). Respondent was forced to bring the action even in after Judge Kimball made his unappealed rulings in the 08.31.2015 Order. It was only through the diligent work of the LST that Respondent was finally able discover Appellant’s actions and the extent thereof and gained the information necessary to amend the Petition to a challenge to Appellant’s actions as co-trustee and/or successor trustee and seek damages for his actions while he was serving of same. (Amended Petition).

As to the third element of *res judicata* (ie: adjudication of the issue in the former suit), there is no finding or conclusion in Judge Kimball’s 08.31.2015 Order that determines whether Appellant breached his duties as co-trustee and/or successor trustee and the resulting liability to Respondent and the Trust. The 08.31.2015 Order explicitly finds the opposite. As previously noted, Judge Kimball made an explicit ruling that the question of Appellant’s actions as Successor Trustee were not at issue, that his findings and conclusions were not to be construed as

such, and that the issue(s) were preserved until such time that Respondent could challenge Appellant's actions. (¶¶5 and 6, p. 9, 08.31.2015 Order). Any other argument otherwise cannot credibly be made.

As a result, the trial court's decision to allow amendment of the pleadings was not barred by *res judicata* and is not an error of law as a result.

- ii. **The trial court allowing Petition to amend her pleadings to assert claims and causes of action did not prejudice Respondent as he was on notice and had an opportunity to refute same.**

Since *res judicata* did not bar the trial court from allowing Respondent to amend her pleadings, the next question is whether Appellant suffered prejudice under Rule 15, SCRPC.

As previously noted, Rule 15, SCRPC allows a party to amend their pleading

“...once as a matter of course at any time before or within 30 days after a responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is required and the action has not been placed upon the trial roster, he may so amend it at any time within thirty days after it is served. Otherwise, a party may amend his pleading only by leave of the court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party.” Rule 15(a), SCRPC. The prejudice that the civil procedure rules envision, as would warrant denial of a motion to amend the pleadings, is a lack of notice that the new issue is to be tried and lack of opportunity to refute it.” Rule 15(a), SCRPC.

Delay in seeking leave to amend pleadings, regardless of the length of the delay will not ordinarily be held to bar an amendment in the absence of a finding of prejudice.” Forrester v. Smith & Steele Builders, Inc., 295 S.C. 504, 509, 369 S.E. 2d 156, 159 (Ct. App. 1988).

It is clear in this matter Appellant was not prejudiced by the trial court allowing Respondent to amend her pleadings to seek damages. It is also clear Appellant was steadfast in his resolve to keep his actions as co-trustee and successor trustee hidden and concealed from Respondent presumably because he was aware that his actions, the breach of his various duties,

and the damages that they would cause and/or caused. It was only after approximately six (6) years of litigation that his actions became known to Respondent. It is also clear from the original Petition filed in this case that Respondent believed Appellant had not acted impartially and possibly breached his duties based on his failures and refusals to produced records and accounts and that was why she was seeking to have him removed. She just had no information (based on Appellant's insistent concealment) to allege damages or an amount thereof. It is additionally clear that Appellant had knowledge and/or was on notice of the LST's report of his actions as co-trustee and/or successor trustee while it was being compiled and amended and had over a year to refute it as it was last amended in 2018 and the trial of this matter occurred in 2020. In other words, the totality of the circumstances shows that Appellant was on notice that he knew or should have known that his actions as co-trustee and successor trustee breached or may have breached various fiduciary duties he owed to Respondent and the Trust, knew or should have known that Respondent would uncover those breaches, and knew or should have known that she would have brought claim for damages as a result. He just did nothing to prepare to refute those claims even after having been given an opportunity to do so after the trial. (08.31.2020 Order Granting Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend.) His failure to act to protect his rights considering the last eight (8) years of protracted litigations can hardly be argued to be lack of notice and opportunity to refute Respondent's claims.

As a result, Appellant did not suffer prejudice because of Respondent being allowed to amend her pleadings.

C. This Court should affirm the trial court's order allowing amendment of the petition

The decision to allow amendment of the pleadings lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not usually be disturbed on appeal as noted above absence a showing of

prejudice which can be based on an error of law. Foggie v. CSX Transport., Inc. 315 S.C. 17, 22, 431 S.E. 2d 587, 590 (1993); Berry v. McLeod, 328 S.C. 435, 450, 492 S.E. 2d 794, 802 (Ct. App. 1997). Neither is present in this case as *res judicata* did not and does not prevent the trial court from allowing Respondent to amend the pleadings nor could it be credibly argued that Appellant was prejudiced by the amendment as he was on notice of Respondent's possible claim for damages well before she was and had an opportunity to refute the same as they were related to his actions. Accordingly, it was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to allow amendment of the pleadings and the trial court's decision should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL JUDGE APPLIED THE CORRECT STANDARD OF PROOF IN THIS MATTER AS THE TRUST AGREEMENT DOES NOT PROVIDE FOR A HIGHER STANDARD OF PROOF. EVEN IF IT DID, THAT ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL.

In Appellant's Initial Brief, there appears to be an argument that the Trust Agreement contains an ambiguity related to the standard of proof that the trial court was required to apply and the ambiguity should be resolved in favor of a high standard of proof. Rather than giving any statutory or case law for the basis of this argument, Appellant speculates about the Settlor's knowledge of Appellant and Respondent's relationship. However, the Trust Agreement contains no such ambiguity and explicitly does not contain a higher standard of proof. As a result, the trial court applied the proper standard of proof in its Final Order

Also, neither party raised the issue of construing the Trust so that a higher standard of proof is applied in its pleadings or at the trial of the matter. It was raised for the first time on the Motion for Reconsideration, and, as a result, is improper for this Court to consider on appeal.

A. Neither pray alleged an ambiguity in the Trust Agreement related to the standard of proof, and, as a result, it is improper for this Court to consider it on appeal.

Appellant claims that the Trust Agreement requires the trial court to apply a higher standard of proof and that the trial court failed to do same. However, a review of record reveals neither party addressed or raised a question about the standard of proof required by the Trust Agreement or its application except on the Motion for Reconsideration. (Motion for Reconsideration 02.12.2021) The only mention of it being that Appellant claimed Respondent had not proved that he acted in bad faith without addressing the Trust Agreement itself or the higher standard that he now believes should be used. Id. As this issue was not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court prior to the Motion for Reconsideration, the issue of the standard of proof is not properly preserved for review and should be struck as a grounds for appeal. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 77, 497 S.E. 2d 731, 734 (1998).

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